
    A/CN.4/SR.3289*

     
Provisional 

For participants only 

3 May 2017 

English 
Original: French 

 

 

Corrections to this record should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set 
forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within 

two weeks of the date of the present document to the English Translation Section, room E.6040, 

Palais des Nations, Geneva (trad_sec_eng@unog.ch). 

GE.15-13478 (E)    020517    030517 

  

 

International Law Commission 
Sixty-seventh session (second part) 
 

Provisional summary record of the 3289th meeting 
Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Thursday, 6 August 2015, at 3 p.m. 
 
 

 

Contents 
 

Draft report of the Commission on the work of its sixty-seventh session (continued) 

 Chapter V. Identification of customary international law (continued) 

 Chapter VIII. Protection of the environment in relation to armed conflicts 

 Chapter IX. Immunity of State officials from foreign criminal jurisdiction 

 Chapter I. Introduction 

 Chapter II. Summary of the work of the Commission at its sixty-seventh session 

 Chapter III. Specific issues on which comments would be of particular interest to 

 the Commission 

    
 * Reissued for technical reasons on 3 May 2017.  



A/CN.4/SR.3289  
 

GE.15-13478 2/14 
 

Present: 

Chairman: Mr. Singh 

Members: Mr. Caflisch 

 Mr. Candioti  

 Mr. Comissário Afonso 

 Mr. El-Murtadi  

 Ms. Escobar Hernández 

 Mr. Forteau  

 Mr. Hassouna 

 Mr. Hmoud 

 Ms. Jacobsson 

 Mr. Kamto 

 Mr. Kittichaisaree 

 Mr. Kolodkin 

 Mr. Laraba 

 Mr. McRae 

 Mr. Murase 

 Mr. Murphy  

 Mr. Niehaus 

 Mr. Nolte 

 Mr. Park 

 Mr. Peter 

 Mr. Petrič 

 Mr. Saboia  

 Mr. Šturma 

 Mr. Tladi 

 Mr. Valencia-Ospina 

 Mr. Vázquez-Bermúdez  

 Mr. Wako 

 Mr. Wisnumurti 

 Sir Michael Wood 

Secretariat: 

Mr. Llewellyn Secretary to the Commission 



 A/CN.4/SR.3289

 

3/14 GE.15-13478 

 

The meeting was called to order at 3.05 p.m. 

  Draft report of the Commission on the work of its sixty-seventh session (continued) 
 

Chapter V. Identification of customary international law (continued) 
(A/CN.4/L.859)  

 The Chairman invited the Special Rapporteur to explain what had been decided 
following the consultations on paragraph 46, which had been left in abeyance, with the 
members concerned. 
 

  Paragraph 46 
 

 Sir Michael Wood (Special Rapporteur) said that the question of the 
Commission’s role had been raised by a number of members during the discussion but 
had not been mentioned in the summary of the debate. He therefore proposed that a 
new paragraph should be inserted after paragraph 46, to read: “The Special Rapporteur 
noted that many colleagues had suggested that there should be a separate conclusion 
on work of the International Law Commission. He was not convinced of the need for a 
separate conclusion, as opposed to explaining the Commission’s role in the 
commentaries. He nevertheless hoped that the Drafting Committee would consider the 
matter.” The proposal replaced the one made at the previous meeting. 

 The proposal was adopted. 

 Mr. Vázquez-Bermúdez said that while he endorsed the proposal by the Special 
Rapporteur, the summary of the debate should reflect what a number of members had 
said about the work of the Commission. He therefore proposed the insertion, after the 
section on judicial decisions and writings, of a new paragraph 31 bis, to read: “Several 
members affirmed that the work of the International Law Commission, which is a 
subsidiary organ of the General Assembly of the United Nations entrusted with the 
mandate to promote the progressive development of international law and its 
codification, could not be equated to ‘writings’ or teachings of publicists.”  

 The proposal was adopted.  

 The new paragraph proposed for insertion after paragraph 46 and the new 

paragraph 31 bis were adopted. 

 Document A/CN.4/L.859 as a whole, as amended, was adopted. 

Chapter VIII. Protection of the environment in relation to armed conflicts 
(A/CN.4/L.862) 

 The Chairman invited the members of the Commission to consider chapter VIII, 
as contained in document A/CN.4/L.862, paragraph by paragraph. 
 

  A. Introduction 
 

  Paragraphs 1 and 2 
 

 Paragraphs 1 and 2 were adopted. 

 

  B. Consideration of the topic at the present session 
 

  Paragraphs 3 to 12 
 

 Paragraphs 3 to 12 were adopted. 



A/CN.4/SR.3289  
 

GE.15-13478 4/14 
 

 

  Paragraph 13 
 

 Mr. Nolte proposed the insertion of the words “in principle” after the word 
“applied” in the sentence beginning “It was acknowledged”. 

 Paragraph 13, as amended, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 14 
 

 Paragraph 14 was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 15 
 

 Mr. Murphy proposed that, in the portion of the penultimate sentence that read 
“rules under the law of armed conflict”, the word “some” should be inserted before 
“rules”. 

 Paragraph 15, as amended, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 16 
 

 Paragraph 16 was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 17 
 

 Mr. Nolte proposed that in the fourth sentence, the words “did indeed” should be 
replaced with “would indeed”, and the words “legal normativity”, by “legal 
significance”. 

 Paragraph 17, as amended, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 18 
 

 Mr. Park proposed the insertion of the words “in the context of non-
international armed conflicts” at the end of paragraph 18. 

 Paragraph 18, as amended, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraphs 19 to 41 
 

 Paragraphs 19 to 41 were adopted. 

 Document A/CN.4/L.862 as a whole, as amended, was adopted. 

Chapter IX. Immunity of State officials from foreign criminal jurisdiction 
(A/CN.4/L.863 and Add.1) 
 

  Document A/CN.4/L.863 
 

 The Chairman invited the members of the Commission to consider chapter IX, 
as contained in document A/CN.4/L.863, paragraph by paragraph. 
 

  A. Introduction 
 

  Paragraphs 1 and 2 
 

 Paragraphs 1 and 2 were adopted. 

 

  Paragraph 3 
 

 Paragraph 3 was adopted with a minor editorial amendment to footnote 5. 



 A/CN.4/SR.3289

 

5/14 GE.15-13478 

 

 

  B. Consideration of the topic at the present session 
 

  Paragraphs 4 to 8 
 

 Paragraphs 4 to 8 were adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 9 
 

 Mr. Nolte proposed that in the ninth sentence, the word “high” should be 
replaced with “large”. 

 That proposal was adopted. 

 Mr. Murphy suggested that the paragraph should be broken into a number of 
smaller ones to improve its readability. 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) said that she endorsed that 
proposal and would indicate to the Secretariat how it should be applied. 

 Paragraph 9, as amended, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraphs 10 to 16 
 

 Paragraphs 10 to 16 were adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 17 
 

 Paragraph 17 was adopted with a minor editorial amendment to the English text. 
 

  Paragraph 18 
 

 Mr. Nolte, drawing attention to the final sentence, said that the phrase “which 
would be addressed fully in the fifth report” should refer to the automatic and 
mechanical recognition of immunity from foreign criminal jurisdiction in respect of 
acts performed by State officials in their official capacity, and not to the qualification 
of that category of acts as international crimes, since the latter question had already 
been covered in the fourth report. He therefore proposed amending that phrase and 
inserting a new final sentence, to read: “The question will be the subject of more in-
depth study in the fifth report.” 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) endorsed the idea of inserting a 
new final sentence but suggested that it should instead read: “The question will be 
analysed in greater detail in the fifth report.” 

 The proposal was adopted. 

 Sir Michael Wood proposed deleting “as”, a superfluous term before the word 
“performed”, in the English version of the sentence referred to by Mr. Nolte. 

 The proposal was adopted. 

 Paragraph 18, as amended, was adopted. 

 

  Paragraph 19 
 

 Mr. Nolte, drawing attention to the sentence beginning “More crucially”, said 
that the paragraph was about the Special Rapporteur’s fourth report, which dealt with 
the concept of the act performed in an official capacity, but he did not have the 
impression that that aspect of State immunity was in a “state of flux”, apart from the 
matter of exceptions. The phrase “state of flux” did not seem appropriate to him in 
that context, and he therefore proposed to delete it. In addition, the penultimate 
sentence set up the wrong comparison, since during the discussion, the preservation of 



A/CN.4/SR.3289  
 

GE.15-13478 6/14 
 

stability in inter-State relations had been contrasted, not with the advancement of 
international law, but with the struggle against impunity. He therefore proposed that 
the phrase “while at the same time preserve stability in inter-State relations” should be 
deleted.  

 Mr. Kolodkin said that he shared the concerns outlined by Mr. Nolte. In 
addition, if paragraph 19 was to summarize the debate instead of putting forward a 
general remark, the two phrases referred to by Mr. Nolte should be introduced by a 
phrase such as “Certain members pointed out …”. 

 Mr. Hmoud said that the fourth report as a whole showed that State practice was 
not settled; the phrase “state of flux” was perfectly appropriate in that context, and he 
would prefer to see it retained. Regarding Mr. Nolte’s second point, he proposed that 
instead of deleting the entire phrase that read “while at the same time preserve 
stability in inter-State relations”, the words “taking account of the need to combat 
impunity” should be inserted before it. 

 Mr. Kittichaisaree proposed that the entire fourth sentence (“More crucially 
[…] applicable rules”) should be replaced by the following: “More crucially, State 
practice was not uniform”, since the fourth report showed that practice diverged. He 
further proposed that the rest of the paragraph should be deleted, since some members 
had repeatedly stated in recent years that no distinction should be made between the 
progressive development of international law and its codification. 

 Sir Michael Wood said that he shared the views of Mr. Nolte and Mr. Kolodkin. 
It seemed to him that the first part of the paragraph reflected the views of the 
Commission as a whole, and the second, those of certain members. He therefore 
proposed that the text should be divided into two parts after the third sentence, with 
the new part to begin “Some members pointed out”. 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) said that in the light of the 
comments made, and in order to give a more precise rendering of the various views 
expressed during the discussion, she would propose that the phrase “More crucially, 
the direction of State practice … applicable rules” should be amended to read: “Some 
members of the Commission expressed the view that State practice was not uniform, 
and more crucially, the direction of State practice was in a ‘state of flux’ such that it 
was not easy to identify the clear and unambiguous applicable rules.” She likewise 
proposed inserting a full stop in the penultimate sentence, after the words “to advance 
international law”, and to include thereafter a new sentence, to read: “The view was 
also expressed that it was necessary to strike a balance between fighting impunity and 
preserving stability in inter-State relations”. 

 Mr. Hmoud proposed that the first amendment proposed by the Special 
Rapporteur should begin on an impersonal note rather than by stating “Some members 
of the Commission”, in order to convey the sense that the point of view expressed was 
not that of the Commission but of only some of its members. 

 Paragraph 19, as reformulated by Ms. Escobar Hernández and with the drafting 

change proposed by Mr. Hmoud, was adopted.  

 

  Paragraphs 20 and 21 
 

 Paragraphs 20 and 21 were adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 22 
 

 Mr. Hmoud proposed that, in the fourth sentence, the word “fully” should be 
deleted; the words “restrictive jurisdictional immunity of States” should be replaced 
with “the restrictive theory of jurisdictional immunity of States”; and after those 



 A/CN.4/SR.3289

 

7/14 GE.15-13478 

 

words, the following text should be inserted: “which allowed a State to exercise 
jurisdiction over commercial and other non-public activities of another State. 
According to this view, the proper test for granting a State official immunity for an act 
performed in an official capacity should depend upon the benefit of the act to his or 
her State and upon ensuring the effective exercise of its function.” 

 Mr. Tladi proposed that in the sentence which began “While some members 
recognised the asymmetry that exists …”, the second part should be simplified to read: 
“… the cautionary point was made that the Commission risked establishing a 
regime …”. 

 Mr. Kittichaisaree supported the proposal made by Mr. Tladi and, with regard 
to the same sentence, said that the phrase “diametrically opposed” did not seem 
correct and should be replaced by another formulation. 

 Sir Michael Wood proposed replacing the word “asymmetry” with 
“contradictions”. 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) said that in principle she was in 
favour of including the proposals made by Mr. Hmoud and Mr. Tladi but would be 
grateful if they could submit them in writing. In response to Mr. Kittichaisaree’s 
comment, she proposed replacing the words “diametrically opposed” with “was 
inconsistent with”. As for the proposal by Sir Michael Wood to replace the word 
“asymmetry” with “contradictions”, she would prefer the more neutral word 
“differences”. 

 Mr. Petrič requested the Special Rapporteur to read out the sentences just 
modified. 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) said that if the Commission so 
wished, after broader consultations with the members concerned, she would provide a 
written version of the paragraph, as amended, either later in the meeting or at another 
meeting. 

 The Chairman proposed continuing with the discussion of the document and 
suspending the meeting later on, to enable the Special Rapporteur to carry out the 
necessary consultations in order to finalize the paragraphs left in abeyance. 

 Paragraph 22 was left in abeyance. 
 

  Paragraph 23 
 

 Sir Michael Wood said that the first sentence in the paragraph was strangely 
worded, at least in English; it should be redrafted. 

 The Chairman proposed that paragraph 23 should likewise be the subject of 
consultations to be held later. 

 Paragraph 23 was left in abeyance. 
 

  Paragraph 24 
 

 Mr. Kolodkin said that the paragraph should be revised in order to make it clear, 
as was done in the first sentence, that the points of view expressed were not those of 
the Commission but of some of its members.  

 Mr. Nolte endorsed that remark and proposed that the second sentence should be 
amended to read: “Some members indicated that while it was difficult to pigeonhole 
serious international crimes, ultra vires acts, or acts jure gestionis as being private 
acts, it was better to address them as limitations or exceptions rather than as part of a 
definition of official acts.” 



A/CN.4/SR.3289  
 

GE.15-13478 8/14 
 

 Mr. Kittichaisaree, supported by Mr. Wako, said that the word “pigeonhole”, 
used in the English text of the second sentence, was inappropriate and should be 
replaced by another term, such as “classify”, “characterize” or “identify”. 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) said that the word “catalogar” 
which was used in the Spanish text was perfectly appropriate and that she would leave 
it to the English speakers to choose the best term for the English text. As for the 
paragraph as a whole, she thought that it was a faithful reflection of the positions 
taken during the discussion and therefore she could see no need to amend it. If other 
members thought differently, however, the paragraph would also have to be the subject 
of further consultations. 

 The Chairman proposed that paragraph 24 should be left in abeyance to enable 
the Special Rapporteur to speak with the members concerned when the meeting was 
suspended. 

 Paragraph 24 was left in abeyance. 
 

  Paragraphs 25 to 30 
 

 Paragraphs 25 to 30 were adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 31 
 

 Mr. Nolte said that as currently drafted, the paragraph seemed to him to be 
difficult to understand, at least in the English version, and that it should either be 
redrafted or deleted. 

 Mr. Kittichaisaree said that he shared Mr. Nolte’s difficulties and that the 
paragraph did not seem to him to truly reflect the discussions. 

 Mr. Šturma said that the idea that he had outlined during the plenary debate was 
that some international instruments expressly stated that an act must have been 
committed by a State official or a person acting in an official capacity, whereas others 
categorized such an act as a crime, irrespective of the capacity in which it had been 
committed or the status of the perpetrator. Nevertheless, in practice, such crimes could 
be, and often were, committed by persons acting in an official capacity. The main 
question therefore was not whether the act was criminal in nature, but whether, in 
order for it to constitute a crime, it had to have been committed by a person acting in 
an official capacity. 

 Mr. Forteau endorsed that explanation and proposed that the meaning of the 
first sentence should be clarified by amending it to read: “Some members observed 
that there was practice which treated the participation of a State official in the 
commission of the act as part of the definition of a crime, while in other instances, 
participation by an official was not an express element of the crime in question, but 
that did not necessarily exclude the possibility of an official being involved in that 
capacity in the commission of the crime …”. 

 Mr. Nolte thanked Mr. Forteau for that proposal, which greatly improved the 
text. As for the second sentence, he was not sure he understood the meaning of the 
phrase “the prescriptive or descriptive nature of a particular characterization of a 
crime”, and he requested clarification on that point. 

 Sir Michael Wood said that the word “practice”, as used in the first sentence, 
did not seem appropriate: there was no “practice”, but rather cases, when the 
participation of a State official in the commission of an act was an element of the 
definition of a crime. 



 A/CN.4/SR.3289

 

9/14 GE.15-13478 

 

 Mr. Šturma said that he, too, thought that the word “practice” was not well 
chosen, the idea being that in certain treaties, such as the Convention against Torture 
and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the status as a State 
official of the person who committed the act was an element of the crime. The 
sentence should be redrafted along those lines. 

 The Chairman proposed that the paragraph should be left in abeyance so that 
the Special Rapporteur could review and amend it, in consultation with the members 
concerned. 

 Paragraph 31 was left in abeyance. 
 

  Paragraph 32 
 

 Mr. Nolte said that he was not comfortable with the phrase “factual 
determination” and proposed that, in the second sentence, the words “some members 
were of the view” should be inserted after “Put differently”. 

 Sir Michael Wood said that the second sentence was basically superfluous and 
he proposed that it should be deleted. 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) said that she would accept Sir 
Michael’s proposal, as long as the words “Some members were of the view” were 
inserted at the beginning of the first sentence. 

 Paragraph 32, as amended, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 33 
 

 Mr. Kolodkin proposed that, in order to take account of what had been said by 
at least one member during the debate, the following sentence should be inserted at the 
beginning of the paragraph: “It was also noted that while the criminal nature of the act 
did not alter its official character, that did not mean that the criminality of the act 
could be considered as an element of the definition of the act performed in an official 
capacity.” 

 Paragraph 33, as amended, was adopted. 

 

  Paragraph 34 
 

 Sir Michael Wood said that as currently worded, the first sentence seemed to be 
a general remark about the international law of immunity, whereas in fact it simply 
reflected the views of a certain number of members. He therefore proposed that, at the 
start of the sentence, the words “It was also” should be replaced with “Some 
members”. 

 Paragraph 34, as amended, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraphs 35 to 39 
 

 Paragraphs 35 to 39 were adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 40 
 

 Mr. Forteau said that the word “assimilation” was problematic and he proposed 
that the start of the first sentence should be amended to read: “For other members, the 
reference, in the context of immunity ratione materiae, to the rules of attribution 
[…].” 

 Paragraph 40, as amended, was adopted. 
 



A/CN.4/SR.3289  
 

GE.15-13478 10/14 
 

  Paragraph 41 
 

 Paragraph 41 was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 42 
 

 Mr. Nolte proposed that, in order to reflect a different view in the debate on the 
subject, a sentence to read “Other members pointed to the right of a State to waive the 
immunity of its officials, which demonstrated the connection between all forms of 
State-based immunity” should be added at the end of the paragraph.  

 Paragraph 42, as thus amended and with a minor editorial correction to the 

English text, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 43 
 

 Paragraph 43 was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 44 
 

 Mr. Kittichaisaree said an error seemed to have slipped into the English text: 
the word “guidance” had to be replaced with “direction”. 

 With that amendment to the English text, paragraph 44 was adopted. 

  Paragraph 45 
 

 Mr. Forteau proposed that the words “in an asymmetrical international legal 
system” should be deleted. 

 Paragraph 45, as amended, was adopted. 

  Paragraphs 46 to 51 
 

 Paragraphs 46 to 51 were adopted. 

 Following a discussion in which Mr. Kolodkin and Ms. Escobar Hernández 
participated, the Chairman proposed to add a paragraph 51 (bis), to read: “It was also 
noted that if the Commission adopted a definition of an act performed in an official 
capacity, then it might be appropriate to amend accordingly draft article 5, which it 
had provisionally adopted.”  

 It was so decided. 
 

  Paragraphs 52 and 53 
 

 Paragraphs 52 and 53 were adopted. 
 

  Paragraphs 54 and 55 
 

 Paragraphs 54 and 55 were adopted with some minor editorial amendments to 

the English text. 

 The Chairman invited members of the Commission to resume their 
consideration of the paragraphs that had been left in abeyance, starting with paragraph 
22, of which an amended version had been distributed in the meeting room (document 
without a symbol, English language only). 
 

  Paragraph 22 (continued) 
 

 Mr. Murphy said that, for the sake of brevity, the third sentence should be 
deleted. 



 A/CN.4/SR.3289

 

11/14 GE.15-13478 

 

 Paragraph 22, as amended and with minor editorial corrections to the English 

text, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 24 (continued) 
 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) said that, after having consulted 
with Mr. Kolodkin and Mr. Nolte, she would propose that the beginning of the second 
sentence should be amended to read: “Some members indicated that while it was 
difficult to categorize serious international crimes …”. She also proposed that the 
beginning of the last sentence should be revised to read: “Some members indicated 
that such an approach would also make it possible to find solutions.” 

 Sir Michael Wood proposed that the English text of the second sentence should 
be aligned on the French through the replacement of “private acts” with “acts 
performed in a private capacity”. 

 Paragraph 24, as thus amended and with a minor editorial correction to the 

English version, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 31 
 

 Mr. Nolte said he wished to see the inclusion in the text of a proposal he had 
made at an earlier meeting, namely, to insert the words “according to that view” at the 
start of the second sentence, in order to show that the position outlined in that 
sentence was that of the members mentioned in the previous sentence, not that of the 
Commission as a whole. 

 Paragraph 31, as amended, was adopted. 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) said that Mr. Kolodkin had sent 
the Secretariat an amended text for paragraph 33, on which there was no need for 
discussion. She herself intended to submit a proposed revision of paragraph 23 at a 
later date. 

 The Chairman said that the Commission would consider that proposal and 
adopt the document as a whole at another meeting. 
 

  Document A/CN.4/L.863/Add.1 
 

  Paragraphs 56 to 63 
 

 Paragraphs 56 to 63 were adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 64 
 

 Mr. Nolte requested an explanation of the final sentence, which was not clear. 

 Ms. Escobar Hernández (Special Rapporteur) said that the reason was that a 
number of words which should have appeared at the end of the sentence had been 
omitted. The sentence should be amended to read: “She did not share the view 
expressed by a member of the Commission that an act was not official because it was 
attributed to the State, but was attributed to the State because it had been carried out 
by an official of the State.” 

 Paragraph 64, as amended, was adopted. 
 

  Paragraphs 65 to 67 
 

 Paragraphs 65 to 67 were adopted. 

 Document A/CN.4/L.863/Add.1 as a whole, as amended, was adopted. 



A/CN.4/SR.3289  
 

GE.15-13478 12/14 
 

Chapter I. Introduction (A/CN.4/L.855) 

 The Chairman invited the members of the Commission to consider chapter I, as 
contained in document A/CN.4/L.855, paragraph by paragraph. 
 

  Paragraphs 1 to 6 
 

 Paragraphs 1 to 6 were adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 7 
 

 In response to a comment by Mr. Hmoud, the Chairman invited the members 
of the Commission to verify whether the composition of the drafting committees listed 
in paragraph 7 was correct and to inform the Secretariat of the corrections to be made 
if their names were not included in the appropriate lists. 

 Subject to the requisite corrections, paragraph 7 was adopted. 
 

  Paragraph 8 
 

 Paragraph 8 was adopted with a minor editorial amendment proposed by Mr. 

Forteau. 
 

  Paragraphs 9 to 12 
 

 Paragraphs 9 to 12 were adopted. 

 Document A/CN.4/L.855 as a whole, as amended, was adopted. 

Chapter II. Summary of the work of the Commission at its sixty-seventh session 

(A/CN.4/L.856) 

 The Chairman invited the members of the Commission to consider chapter II, 
as contained in document A/CN.4/L.856, paragraph by paragraph. 

 Paragraphs 1 to 6 were adopted. 

 

  Paragraph 7 
 

 Mr. Forteau said that the final sentence had to be corrected to show that the 
Commission had not taken note of the interim report of the Drafting Committee. 

 Subject to the necessary corrections, paragraph 7 was adopted. 
 

  Paragraphs 8 to 11 
 

 The Chairman said that the blank spaces in paragraphs 8, 10 and 11 would be 
filled in later by the Secretariat. 

 Subject to the necessary additions, paragraphs 8 to 11 were adopted. 

Chapter III. Specific issues on which comments would be of particular interest to 

the Commission (A/CN.4/L.857) 

 The Chairman invited the members of the Commission to consider chapter III, 
as contained in document A/CN.4/L.857, paragraph by paragraph. 

 Mr. Forteau said that he wished to make a number of general remarks on the 
text of chapter III before the Commission took it up paragraph by paragraph. In his 
view, a great deal of information was being requested of Member States: for the five 
topics listed, they needed to provide a large quantity of specific information, and to do 
so by 31 January 2016 — a very short time frame. In addition, he thought it was 
premature to ask States to provide information on their practice relating to jus cogens 



 A/CN.4/SR.3289

 

13/14 GE.15-13478 

 

when the Commission had not yet received the preliminary report of the Special 
Rapporteur on the topic. Section E of the text should perhaps therefore be deleted. It 
would also be useful to divide the chapter into two separate sections, one devoted to 
requests for information that were reminders of requests made in previous years, and 
the other, to new requests to Member States. Lastly, pointing out that the formulation 
used since 2011 (“the Commission requests States to provide information, by …”) was 
much more peremptory than the one used in the past (“the Commission would 
welcome any information that States could provide on …”), he said that more leeway 
should be given to States in the requests for information from them. He recalled that 
the statute of the Commission set out two different formulations, depending on 
whether the request related to the progressive development of international law 
(“urges States”) or to the codification of international law (“invites States to provide 
information”). 

 Mr. Nolte endorsed those proposals, especially the one about making the 
requests for information less peremptory. 

 Mr. Murphy said that he, too, endorsed the proposals, especially the one on 
combining in a single section reminders of requests for information. For the sake of 
brevity, he proposed developing a general formulation to cover all such requests. 

 Mr. Tladi said that he did not intend to produce a preliminary report on jus 

cogens and would prefer to draft a first report based on the information transmitted by 
States; that was why he would like section E to be retained. As to the large number of 

requests for information, he did not think it was actually a problem, since States were 
perfectly free not to respond to some requests if they did not wish to.  

 Sir Michael Wood said that he endorsed the idea of reducing the number of 
requests for information and to combine all the reminders. He hoped that, at a future 
session, the Commission would be able to discuss the related priorities to be set. 

 Ms. Jacobsson said that she endorsed the proposals by Mr. Forteau but thought 
that since the Commission had not yet discussed such matters in the context of its 
working methods, it would be useful to do so. While she was aware of the need to 
limit the number of requests for information, she very much hoped that the requests 
contained in section B would be retained; the answers given by States had been very 
useful to her in drawing up her previous reports, and those she was to receive would 
certainly be useful for her next report.  

 Ms. Escobar Hernández said that she fully supported Mr. Forteau’s proposal on 
the way the requests should be formulated and thought that it would be better not to 
set a deadline for States to reply. She wished her request for information on limits and 
exceptions to the immunity of State officials from foreign criminal jurisdiction to be 
retained in chapter III, as she had never before made such a request. 

 Mr. McRae said that every year, the Planning Group should discuss the 
priorities to be set in selecting the requests for information to be included in chapter 
III, and it should do so before the draft report was considered in plenary, so as to avoid 
giving the impression that the Commission was treating States like the research 
assistants that supported the Special Rapporteurs in their work. 

 Mr. Kittichaisaree said that the requests for information should be formulated 
more simply: some States found them difficult to understand. 

 Mr. Forteau recalled that under article 19, paragraph 2, of its statute, the 
Commission must “address to Governments a detailed request to furnish the texts of 
laws, decrees, judicial decisions […] and other documents relevant to the topic being 
studied and which the Commission deems necessary”. The practice was accordingly 
laid down in the statute, but solely in the context of the codification of international 



A/CN.4/SR.3289  
 

GE.15-13478 14/14 
 

law — requests for information concerning the progressive development of 
international law were to be worded differently. It would be useful for the Commission 
to discuss the differences at a future session.  

 The Chairman invited Mr. Forteau to draw up a new paragraph bringing 
together all the reminders about requests for information and said that the Commission 
would continue its consideration of draft chapter III at another meeting. 

The meeting rose at 6.05 p.m. 


